RECEIVED

Feb 16 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case Nos. 2023-000667 & 2023-000668

---

Intellectual Capitol, Inc., Barry Newkirk and Neil Richards, Appellants,

v.

Michael B. Spicer, Chief Procurement Officer, South Carolina State Fiscal Accountability Authority, Division of Procurement Services, and South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission, Respondents.

AND

JMI Sports and JMIS College, LLC, Appellants,

v.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Does the Chief Procurement Officer lack the authority to declare that S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-4230 is unconstitutional?
- II. Does S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-4230 violate the Separation of Powers Clause of the South Carolina Constitution because it grants an Executive Department officer jurisdiction over common law claims asserted *by the State*?
- III. Does S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-4230 violate the Original Jurisdiction Clause of the South Carolina Constitution because it grants an Executive Department officer jurisdiction over common law claims asserted *by the State*?
- IV. Does S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-4230 violate the Constitutional right to trial by jury because it grants an Executive Department officer jurisdiction over common law claims asserted *by the State*?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants (“JMIS” and/or “ICAP”) entered into contracts with the State and/or one of its agencies (“State”). The State asserted legal and equitable claims before the Chief Procurement Officer (“CPO”) against each Appellant under S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-4230 (the “Contract Controversy Statute”):

(1) Applicability. This section applies to controversies between a governmental body and a contractor or subcontractor, when the subcontractor is the real party in interest, which arise under or by virtue of a contract between them including, but not limited to, controversies based upon breach of contract, mistake, misrepresentation, or other cause for contract modification or rescission. **The procedure set forth in this section constitutes the exclusive means of resolving a controversy between a governmental body and a contractor or subcontractor**, when the subcontractor is the real party in interest, concerning a contract governed by the provisions of the South Carolina Consolidated Procurement Code. On behalf of any governmental body or South Carolina public procurement unit that participates in a multiagency, term, or cooperative contract awarded by or under the authority of a chief procurement officer, **the Division of Procurement Services may initiate and pursue resolution of any contract controversy which arises under or by virtue of a contract** between them including, but not limited to, controversies based upon breach of contract, mistake, misrepresentation, or other cause for contract modification or rescission.

S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-4230 (emphasis added).

Appellants did not bring a breach of contract claim *against the State* in circuit court. Instead, the State brought legal and equitable claims against each Appellant before the CPO, rather than the courts.

Appellants filed declaratory judgment actions in circuit court to declare the Contract Controversy Statute unconstitutional as it purports to authorize the CPO to hear and decide *claims by the State*, rather than only *claims against the State* (which are separately authorized by the South Carolina Constitution, art. X, § 10, and art. XVII, § 2.)<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup>Art. X, § 10, and art. XVII, § 2, in conjunction with the constitutionally compliant element of S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-4230 regarding claims against the State, are the reason Appellant JMIS

Appellants sought declaratory judgment that the Contract Controversy Statute is unconstitutional. Specifically, the Contract Controversy Statute violates the following provisions of the South Carolina Constitution: the Separation of Powers Clause, art. I, § 8; the Original Jurisdiction Clause, art. V, § § 1, 11; and the Constitutional Right to a Jury Trial, art. I, § 14. (R. p. 107, JMIS Complaint-Petition for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief; R. p. 57, ICAP Complaint-Petition for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief).

Respondents moved to dismiss for failure to exhaust administrative remedies before the CPO. (R. p. 145 and R. p. 85, Def. CPO's Motions to Dismiss as to JMIS and ICAP; R. p. 147, Def. Clemson University's Motion to Dismiss; R. p. 75, Def. South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission's Motion to Dismiss).

On January 31, 2023, the circuit court, the Honorable Alison R. Lee, dismissed Appellants' cases as "premature" because Appellants had "failed to exhaust their administrative remedies" before the CPO under S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-4230. (R. pp. 1-12, Order On All Motions to Dismiss). Appellants moved for reconsideration, arguing that the CPO, an Executive Branch official, lacks judicial power to issue Declaratory Judgment. (R. p. 164, JMIS Motion to Reconsider; R. p. 96, ICAP Motion to Reconsider).

On April 13, 2023, the circuit court denied the motions for reconsideration, relying on *Unisys v. South Carolina Budget and Control Board*, 346 S.C. 158, 551 S.E.2d 263 (2001). (R. p. 13, Form 4 and Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration in *JMI Sports, et al. v. S.C. State Fiscal Accountability Authority, et al.*; R. p. 16, Form 4 and Order on Plaintiff's Motion for

---

brought its own claims against the State before the CPO, not to court. That matter is not at issue in this case. Appellant ICAP has asserted no claims against the State at all in any matter or venue.

Reconsideration in *Intellectual Capitol Inc., et al. v. S.C. Workers' Compensation Commission, et al.*).

Appellants timely filed notices of intent to appeal on April 25, 2023.

At this Court's invitation, on April 27, 2023, Appellants moved to consolidate these cases. This Court granted the Motion to Consolidate on June 8, 2023.

Respondents moved to dismiss the appeals on May 31, 2023, for failure to exhaust administrative remedies, and this Court denied that motion on August 10, 2023.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The question of whether a statute is facially unconstitutional is a question of law, and the Supreme Court reviews all questions of law *de novo*. *Catawba Indian Tribe v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007). “When a question of law is presented, [the] standard of review is plenary.” *State v. Stewart*, 413 S.C. 308, 316, 775 S.E.2d 416, 420 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting *State v. Cochran*, 369 S.C. 308, 312–13, 631 S.E.2d 294, 297 (Ct. App. 2006)). *State v. Shands*, 424 S.C. 106, 1116-17, 817 S.E.2d 524, 529 (Ct. App. 2018).

A statute may be unconstitutional in part. *Aiken County Bd. of Educ. v. Knotts*, 274 S. C. 144, 262 S.E.2d 14 (1980); *Dean v. Timmerman*, 234 S.C. 35, 106 S.E.2d 665 (1959). “[W]here a part of the statute is unconstitutional, and that which remains is complete in itself, capable of being executed, wholly independent of that which is rejected, and is of such a character as that it may fairly be presumed that the Legislature would have passed it independent of that which is in conflict with the Constitution, then the courts will reject that which is void and enforce the remainder.” *Knotts v. S.C. Dep’t of Natural Res.*, 348 S.C. 1, 9, 558 S.E.2d 511 (2002) (quoting *Dean v. Timmerman, supra*).

## ARGUMENT

### I. The CPO Lacks Authority to Issue a Declaratory Judgment that the Contract Controversy Statute is Unconstitutional.

The circuit court dismissed these actions because Appellants failed to exhaust their administrative remedies. (R. pp. 1-12, Order On All Motions to Dismiss). The South Carolina Declaratory Judgment Act does not require exhaustion of administrative remedies. “Courts of record within their respective jurisdictions shall have power to declare rights, status, and other legal relations whether or not further relief is or could be claimed.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-30 (emphasis added). The “courts of record” include the circuit courts. S.C. Code Ann. § 14-5-10. The CPO and the Procurement Review Panel are not “courts of record” and lack the authority to issue a declaratory judgment or rule that any act is unconstitutional.

Requiring a party to raise an issue which cannot be ruled upon by an ALJ makes little sense and certainly is not effective or appropriate. Here, declaratory relief should not be refused as there is no other effective appropriate remedy under the circumstances. The agency and the ALJ cannot rule on the constitutionality issue. **In fact, requiring the agency or ALJ to rule on the constitutionality of Act 189 would violate the separation of powers doctrine.**

*Ward v. State*, 343 S.C. 14, 548 S.E.2d 245, 247-8 (2000) (emphasis added). “ALJs are an agency of the Executive Branch of government and must follow the law as written until its constitutionality is *judicially* determined; ALJ’s have no authority to pass upon the constitutionality of a statute or regulation.” *Video Gaming Consultants, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep’t of Revenue*, 342 S.C. 34, 38, 535 S.E.2d 642, 644 (2000).

The lower court’s order of dismissal unconstitutionally demands that Appellants first apply to the CPO for resolution of their Declaratory Judgment claims in violation of the Separation of Powers Clause of the South Carolina Constitution. Appellants raised this issue in motions to reconsider, but the circuit court appears to have then ruled on the merits instead. For these reasons,

the circuit court's Order of Dismissal and Orders Denying Reconsideration should be reversed. This Court should determine the Contract Controversy Statute to be unconstitutional in part as set forth herein.

## **II. The Contract Controversy Statute Violates the Separation of Powers Clause as to Claims *By the State Against Private Parties*.**

This Court discussed the origin and purpose of the Separation of Powers doctrine in *State ex rel. McLeod v. McInnis*, 278 S.C. 307, 295 S.E.2d 633 (1982):

Article I, § 8 of the Constitution of South Carolina provides:

### **§ 8. Separation of powers.**

In the government of this State, the legislative, executive, and judicial powers of the government shall be forever separate and distinct from each other, and no person or persons exercising the functions of one of said departments shall assume or discharge the duties of any other.

The separation of powers mandate is followed by Articles III, IV and V, which delineate the authority and functions of the three departments of government. Article III says:

The legislative power of this State shall be vested in . . . the "General Assembly of the State of South Carolina."

Article IV states:

The supreme executive authority of this state shall be vested in a Chief Magistrate, who shall be styled "The Governor of the State of South Carolina."

Article V specifies:

The judicial power shall be vested in a unified judicial system, which shall include a Supreme Court, a Circuit Court, and such other courts of uniform jurisdiction as may be provided for by general law.

One of the prime reasons for separation of powers is the desirability of spreading out the authority for the operation of the government. It prevents the concentration of power in the hands of too few, and provides a system of checks and balances. The legislative department makes the laws; the executive department carries the laws into effect; and the judicial department interprets and declares the laws.

*McLeod v. McInnis*, 278 S.C. at 312, 295 S.E.2d at 636.

Thus, the judicial power is vested exclusively in the Judicial Branch, and the Separation of Powers Clause precludes the General Assembly from infringing on the exclusive original jurisdiction<sup>2</sup> of the circuit courts by empowering an officer or body of the Executive Branch to hear and decide common law and equitable claims asserted *by the State*.

Despite this prohibition, the Contract Controversy Statute purports to grant the CPO authority to resolve all variety of contract disputes between the State and a contractor. In relevant part, the statute provides:

(1) Applicability. This section applies to controversies between a governmental body and a contractor or subcontractor, when the subcontractor is the real party in interest, which arise under or by virtue of a contract between them including, but not limited to, **controversies based upon breach of contract, mistake, misrepresentation, or other cause for contract modification or rescission. The procedure set forth in this section constitutes the exclusive means of resolving a controversy between a governmental body and a contractor or subcontractor**, when the subcontractor is the real party in interest, concerning a contract governed by the provisions of the South Carolina Consolidated Procurement Code.

S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-4230 (emphasis added).

This statute appoints the CPO as the exclusive authority to hear and decide *two types* of legal claims for breach of contract, tort, and equitable relief: 1) those by private parties *against* the State under state-issued contracts; and 2) those *by the State* or its agencies against private parties under state-issued contracts.

With respect to the first category of claims – those *against* the State – such an enactment is constitutionally proper. The General Assembly may, under the Constitution, determine the circumstances under which the State may be sued.<sup>3</sup> However, when applied to the second category

---

<sup>2</sup> See discussion of the Original Jurisdiction Clause as it applies to this case at 16-17, *infra*.

<sup>3</sup> S.C. Const. art. X, § 10 and art. XVII, § 2, each provide: “The General Assembly may direct, by law, in what manner claims *against the State* may be established and adjusted.” (Emphasis added).

of claims – those *by the State* – the Contract Controversy Statute is constitutionally infirm under the Separation of Powers Clause. Apart from the limited exception expressly authorized by the Constitution for claims made *against the State*, the Legislative Branch may not assign original jurisdiction over such common law and equitable claims to any entity other than the courts.

**A. This Court’s *Carolina Glass* Decision Controls in Favor of Appellants.**

In *Carolina Glass Co. v. State*, 87 S.C. 270, 69 S.E. 391 (1910), on similar facts, this Court conducted a thorough Separation of Powers Clause analysis and held: “We conclude, therefore, that in so far as the act of 1910 attempts to confer upon the Commission power to pass final judgment upon the **claim of the State against the plaintiff, it is unconstitutional**, null and void.” *Id.* at 293. (emphasis added).

*Carolina Glass* holds that Separation of Powers prohibits the Legislature from enacting a law that permits a body or officer outside the Judicial Branch to hear and decide a common law claim *by the State* against a contractor and establishes that no such body or officer can have jurisdiction over such a claim.

**1. *Carolina Glass* Involved Claims Asserted *By the State* Against a Contractor, as Here.**

*Carolina Glass* involved the South Carolina Dispensary, a state-run monopoly on liquor sales in South Carolina, which operated state-wide from 1893 to 1907 and in some counties until 1916. It originated from Governor “Pitchfork Ben” Tillman’s experiment requiring all liquor sold in South Carolina to be bottled and dispensed through state-run facilities. (<https://dc.statelibrary.sc.gov/handle/10827/6646>). The system ultimately failed because it was administered by corrupt politicians who used it to strengthen their political machines and enrich their own private fortunes. (<https://southcarolina1670.wordpress.com/2012/08/21/ben-tillman-bad-governor-bad-economist/>).

The Carolina Glass Company, a private business, brought a claim *against the State* before a “State Dispensary Commission,” which the Legislature had set up to handle claims against the State arising out of agreements with the dispensary, a state agency. The Dispensary’s Board of Directors allegedly had colluded with Carolina Glass to monopolize the market and defraud the State. Thus, the appointed Commission was hearing claims that a state agency had colluded with a private contractor to cheat the State. The statute appointing the Commission gave every claimant the right of appeal to the South Carolina Supreme Court, “as in cases at law.”

Carolina Glass initiated its claim before the Commission against the State for \$23,013.75 for unpaid glassware deliveries. The State counterclaimed for breach of the same contract by Carolina Glass.

The Commission found that Carolina Glass was underpaid by \$23,013.75, but it also found that Carolina Glass overcharged the State by \$51,432.99, which the Commission “set off” from the amounts due Carolina Glass. The Commission decided that *Carolina Glass owed the State* \$28,419.24.

On appeal, Carolina Glass asked the Supreme Court to enjoin the State from collecting on its “judgment” or asserting a lien on company real estate. This Court agreed with Carolina Glass.

This Court noted that the Commission had been set up initially to hear claims *against the State*, not claims *by the State*. But the Legislature soon after enacted a law that purported to grant the Commission power to hear claims asserted *by the State* in Dispensary as well. Section 7 also provided enforcement power:

The State Dispensary Commission is hereby empowered to pass all orders and judgments and do any and all things necessary to carry out the purposes of this act; and **all judgments rendered by them for any claim due the State shall be a lien on the property of the judgment debtor** situated within this State, and a transcript of said judgment shall be filed in the office of the clerk of the Court of Common Pleas in each county where any property of such judgment debtor is situated.

*Id.* at 286 (emphasis added). Carolina Glass argued that entering a judgment in favor of the State exceeded the power of the Commission under the Separation of Powers Clause. *Carolina Glass* thus addressed the same Separation of Powers issue presented in the instant case.

The Supreme Court upheld the Commission’s decision on the company’s claim *against the State* in *Carolina Glass*. But it enjoined the State from asserting or claiming any lien on the company’s property on claims *by the State* against Carolina Glass, due to the Separation of Powers Clause.

2. **The Separation of Powers Analysis in *Carolina Glass* Invalidated the Provisions of Law Allowing the Commission to Hear and Decide Claims By the State.**

The *Carolina Glass* Court noted that the State Dispensary Commission was not a court within the meaning of S.C. Const. art. V, § I, but rather a special tribunal created under the power of the Legislature and held that the Legislature cannot reserve for itself the exercise of *judicial powers*, nor can it confer “judicial powers” upon any body other than the courts provided for in art. V, § I. *Id.* at 290. It further noted that the few instances in which judicial power is vested elsewhere are provided for in the Constitution and include claims *against the State*, not claims *by the State*. The Court ruled that judicial power was vested by the people in their courts, and that any person exercising the functions of either of the other departments is forbidden to discharge those vested in the courts. *Id.* at 290-291.

The Court’s analysis below is central to the issue presented here:

The Constitution ordains (Art. I, Sec. 14) that “the legislative, executive and judicial powers of the government shall be forever separate and distinct from each other, and no person or persons exercising the functions of one of said departments shall assume or discharge the duties of any other.” This language is as strong as it is simple and clear. The Legislature therefore cannot assume to itself the exercise of judicial powers. *Segars v. Parrott*, 54 S.C. 1. Nor can it confer “judicial powers,” in the sense in which those words are used in the Constitution, upon any other body

than the Courts mentioned and provided for in Section I, Article V, of the Constitution, which provides that “the judicial power of this State shall be vested in” the Courts therein specifically mentioned and provided for. The few instances in which judicial power is vested elsewhere are provided for in the Constitution itself, and with these few exceptions, the whole of the element of sovereignty known as judicial power was vested by the people in their Courts, and none of it was left to be lodged elsewhere. In fact, every person exercising the functions of either of the other departments of the government are forbidden to assume or discharge those vested in the Courts. We have already seen that the Dispensary Commission is not a Court within the meaning of the judicial article of the Constitution, but is a special tribunal, created under the power of the Legislature to investigate the financial affairs of the State, and that provision of the Constitution which authorizes the Legislature to direct by law how claims *against the State* shall be established and adjusted.

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