THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case Nos. 2023-000667 & 2023-000668

Intellectual Capitol, Inc., Barry Newkirk and Neil Richards, Appellants,

v.

Michael B. Spicer, Chief Procurement Officer, South Carolina State Fiscal Accountability Authority, Division of Procurement Services, and South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission, Respondents.

AND

JMI Sports and JMIS College, LLC, Appellants,

v.

Michael B. Spicer, Chief Procurement Officer, South Carolina State Fiscal Accountability Authority, Division of Procurement Services, and Clemson University, Respondents.

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

ARGUMENT

I. IN *UNISYS v. S.C. BUDGET & CONTROL BD.* THIS COURT UPHELD THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF SECTION 11-35-4230

This Court has already decided the issue presented in Appellant' appeal. In 2001, this Court faced a constitutional attack on § 11-35-4230 and upheld its constitutionality. *Unisys v. South Carolina Budget and Control Bd.*, 346 S.C. 158, 551 S.E.2d 263 (2001). In deciding *Unisys*, the Court concluded that “[t]here is **no constitutional provision limiting the legislature’s power** to establish jurisdiction for actions brought **by the State** and the legislature may provide for such actions as it sees fit.” *Id.* at 169, 551 S.E.2d at 270 (emphasis added). Appellants, however, now claim that *Unisys* is “irrelevant” to this appeal. (Appellant’s Brief, p. 15). They assert that this Court, when it analyzed the scope of the legislature’s power, failed to consider a fundamental tenet of constitutional law simply because the Court failed to include the words “separation of powers” in the decision.

The underlying facts in *Unisys* are almost identical to the facts here. There, Unisys contracted with several governmental bodies (collectively “the State”) to implement an electronic child-support enforcement system. After four years the project failed. This failure prompted the State to submit a request for resolution of a contract controversy pursuant to § 11-35-4230, seeking administrative review before the Chief Procurement Officer (CPO). After moving to dismiss the contract controversy for lack of jurisdiction, Unisys filed a complaint in circuit court. Unisys argued that the General Assembly lacked the authority to enact § 11-35-4230 for claims brought **by the State**—the exact argument raised here by Appellants—and that the circuit court had exclusive jurisdiction over the dispute. The circuit court dismissed Unisys’s complaint. *Id.* at 165, 551 S.E.2d at 267.

On appeal, this Court rejected Unisys's argument that Article V, § 11 of the South Carolina Constitution, vesting general civil-case jurisdiction in the circuit court, controlled the dispute. *Id.* at 166 n.3, 551 S.E.2d at 267 n.3. Instead, the Court held that § 11-35-4230 vests exclusive jurisdiction over state-contract claims, not with the courts, but with the CPO and the Procurement Review Panel. *Id.* at 170, 551 S.E.2d at 270.

This Court also rejected Unisys's argument that the General Assembly lacked the authority to enact § 11-35-4230. Unisys had argued that Article X, § 10 of the South Carolina Constitution—providing that “[t]he General Assembly may direct, by law, in what manner claims against the State may be established and adjusted”—limited the General Assembly's power to vest jurisdiction only to matters *against* the State. But the legislative power is plenary and not dependent upon a constitutional authorization. “Thus, the General Assembly may enact any law not prohibited, expressly or by clear implication, by the State or Federal Constitution.” *Id.* at 169, 551 S.E.2d at 269 (quoting *Johnson v. Piedmont Mun. Power Agency*, 277 S.C. 345, 350, 287 S.E.2d 476, 479 (1982)). The Court ultimately held that “[t]here is no constitutional provision” limiting the General Assembly's power to enact § 11-35-4230 for handling claims by the State.

Unisys is the rare case that is truly “on all fours.” In that case, the State submitted a request for resolution to the CPO alleging various breaches of contract by the contractor. As in *Unisys*, Respondents here used the procedures in § 11-35-4230 and filed contract controversies with the CPO. The Commission filed against ICAP alleging breach of contract arising out of an IT legacy system upgrade. And Clemson filed against JMIS alleging breach of contract arising out of a market services contract. It is undisputed that both contracts are governed by the Procurement Code. The only material difference between Unisys's contract

and the contracts at issue here is that the latter contracts have disputes clauses where the parties expressly agreed to bring their disputes before the CPO. Respondents discuss this additional affirming ground in Part II below.

For the Appellants to prevail, they must convince this Court that this Court erred in *Unisys* when it held that there is “no constitutional provision limiting the legislature’s power to establish jurisdiction for actions brought by the State.” *Unisys* 346 S.C. at 169, 551 S.E.2d at 270. Appellants’ argument rests on the idea that this Court simply failed to consider the “separation of powers” doctrine because it did not use those exact words. The opinion’s analysis, however, suggests that this Court did consider the separation of judicial and executive powers. Specifically, the Court cited Article V of the South Carolina Constitution when it analyzed whether the CPO or the courts had jurisdiction over the dispute, which necessarily implies an analysis of which power—judicial or executive—would be exercised in deciding the dispute. It also analyzed the scope of legislative power to pass a law for the resolution of state-contract claims. And just as all statutes drafted by the legislature are presumed constitutional, it is presumed that this Court was aware of the distinction and separation between judicial and executive power when it interpreted § 11-35-4230. This Court should reject Appellants’ attempt to reverse *Unisys* and affirm the decision of the lower court.

II. THE PARTIES CONTRACTUALLY AGREED TO RESOLVE ANY DISPUTE BEFORE THE CHIEF PROCUREMENT OFFICER

While *Unisys*³ applies here, the Court can resolve this matter without considering it. That is because the method of dispute resolution in the Procurement Code is written into the parties' respective contracts. As part of their contracts with the Commission and Clemson, ICAP and JMIS agreed that the CPO would resolve all disputes relating to their agreements. The disputes clauses state in relevant part:

DISPUTES (JAN 2006) (1) Choice-of-Forum. All disputes, claims, or controversies relating to the Agreement shall be resolved exclusively by the appropriate Chief Procurement Officer in accordance with Title 11, Chapter 35, Article 17 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, or in the absence of jurisdiction, only with the Court of Common Pleas for, or a federal court located in, Richland County, State of South Carolina. . . .

It is black letter law that parties can agree how they will resolve disputes. *See Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 539, 542 S.E.2d 360, 354 (2001) ("Arbitration agreements, like other contracts, are enforceable according to their terms."). Further the Procurement Code and the contracts solicited thereunder inform a contractor wanting to do business with the State how contract disputes will be resolved.

"Contractual provisions such as these have long been used by the Government. No congressional enactment condemns their creation or enforcement." *U.S. v. Moorman*, 338 U.S. 457, 460 (1950) (upholding disputes clause authorizing final determination by the Secretary of War). Far from condemning, the United States Supreme Court has recognized

³ In *Unisys*, the Court rejected Unisys's argument that the dispute clause in that case—providing that actions should be brought in circuit court—controlled the dispute. 346 S.C. at 171, 551 S.E.2d at 270-71. The Court reasoned that, due to the important public interests served by the Procurement Code, any contract formed thereunder incorporated § 11-35-4230 and other applicable provisions. In this case, of course, not only is § 11-35-4230 incorporated by law, but the parties also expressly provided that the CPO would first decide their disputes.

that having an expert in government contracting resolve these disputes “will lead to greater uniformity in the important business of fairly interpreting government contracts.” *U.S. v. Anthony Grace & Sons*, 384 U.S. 424, 429 (1966).

In *Anthony Grace & Sons*, the Department of the Air Force issued the respondent a letter of acceptability containing a disputes clause providing for resolution by the Department with appeal to the Board of Contract Appeals. After the Department dismissed respondent’s claim for the return of a deposit, an issue arose about whether the appeal should be heard by the Board of Contract Appeals or the Court of Claims. The Supreme Court held that it was one “which should be heard and decided by the administrative process.” *Id.* at 429. “Barring some compelling policy reason to disregard [the disputes] provision, *the contractor should be held to its contractual agreement even at this stage in the litigation.*” *Id.* (emphasis added); *see also U.S. v. Wunderlich*, 342 U.S. 98 (1951) (enforcing disputes clause in government contract—“they have contracted for the settlement of disputes in an arbitral manner”—and holding that, in the absence of allegations of fraud, the contracting officer’s decision was final); *U.S. v. Ulvedal*, F.2d 131, 134 (8th Cir. 1967) (“We know of no rule of law preventing the government and a contractor, such as Ulvedal, from entering into an agreement which, by its terms, makes final a contracting officer’s decision in a dispute involving a question of fact arising under their contract. The Supreme Court has consistently upheld this very kind of provision.”).

In this case, Appellants voluntarily chose to do business with the government. With eyes wide open, they submitted offers in response to solicitations providing that the CPO will first resolve all disputes. These were not take-it-or-leave-it consumer transactions; they are contracts that were entered after a mandated statutory process and involved arms-length

transactions. Appellants willingly sought and accepted this business with full knowledge that they agreed for the CPO to handle any disputes.

When a contractor chooses to contract with the government, that contractor agrees to play by the rules. Both the Procurement Code and the contract informed the Appellants that claims by the government would be resolved by the CPO. Having accepted the benefits of contracting with the government, the Appellants should not be allowed to cry foul as soon as a dispute arises.⁴ Appellants contracted for the CPO to resolve all disputes arising out of the Contract and, even in the absence of *Unisys*, this Court can affirm on this basis alone.

III. SECTION 11-35-4230 DOES NOT VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS DOCTRINE

Appellants' theory is that the General Assembly cannot empower the executive branch to exercise judicial or quasi-judicial power over claims made by the State. In support, Appellants have reached back in time and based their theory on an anachronistic interpretation of *Carolina Glass Co. v. State*, 87 S.C. 270, 69 S.E. 391 (1910). Appellants' theory, however, has been shot down in the hundred-plus years of federal and state jurisprudence since *Carolina Glass*. Under Appellants' theory, the federal Contract Disputes

⁴ Footnote 9 of Appellants' Brief argues that the disputes clause is inapplicable because it provides that disputes shall be resolved by the CPO or "in the absence of jurisdiction" by the court. They argue that "[t]he absence of jurisdiction based on the Separation of Powers Clause is exactly what is at issue here." (Appellants Brief, p. 15 n.9). This argument is a red herring. First, the Appellants take that phrase out of context. Given that § 11-35-4230 expressly gives the CPO exclusive jurisdiction to hear claims by the State, a plain reading of the phrase shows it is merely a savings clause in the unlikely event the CPO is faced with an issue outside his jurisdiction under § 11-35-4230—for example, an action for a claim under federal law for which there is no concurrent jurisdiction. Second, at the time Appellants executed their contracts, *Unisys* made clear that the CPO had jurisdiction to hear claims *by the State*. Thus, even if *Unisys* were overruled today, the Appellants' consent at the time extended to claims brought by the State.

Act and similar state and federal statutes are unconstitutional. Further, Appellants' theory ignores that § 11-35-4230 is consistent with Article I, § 22 of the South Carolina Constitution, which acknowledges a role for judicial or quasi-judicial procedures before an administrative agency and the right to judicial review.

A. *The Separation of Powers Doctrine in South Carolina*

Article I, § 8 of the South Carolina Constitution mandates that “the legislative, executive, and judicial powers of the government shall forever be separate and distinct from each other, and no person or persons exercising the functions of one of said departments shall assume or discharge the duties of any other.” The primary purpose of the Separation of Powers Doctrine is to ensure that power is spread among the separate branches, providing a constitutional system of checks and balances. *State ex. rel. McCleod v. McClinnis*, 278 S.C. 307, 312, 295 S.E.2d 633, 636 (1982). The legislature makes the laws; the executive branch carries them out; and the judiciary interprets and declares them. *Id.*

But “[s]eparation of powers does not require that the branches of government be hermetically sealed.” *S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. S.C. Transp. Infrastructure Bank.*, 403 S.C. 640, 649, 744 S.E.2d 521, 525 (2013) (quoting 16A Am. Jur. 2d *Constitutional Law* § 244). Some degree of overlap has always been constitutionally permissible. *Id.* “[O]ur rich and unique constitutional history has resulted in a system of government that does not lend itself to a neat, compartmentalized, or ‘cookie-cutter’ approach.” *Id.* at 651, 744 S.E.2d at 527. “This is true because there is tolerated in complex areas of government of necessity from time to time some overlap of authority and some encroachment to a limited degree.” *McInnis*, 278 S.C. at 313, 295 S.E.2d at 636. The key focus is on whether one branch has attempted to usurp the functions of the other. *Id.*

In *Tall Tower, Inc. v. S.C. Procure. Rev. Panel*, the Court considered whether the appointment of legislators to sit on the Procurement Review Panel, an executive body, violated the separation of powers. 294 S.C. 225, 363 S.E.2d 683 (1987). The Court observed that the Procurement Code is complex, with an express goal, in part, to increase economy in state procurement activities and maximize the purchasing value of State funds. The Court, therefore, gave great weight to the legislative discretion in designating which members possessed special knowledge and skill, and held that the Panel's composition did not violate the separation of powers. *Id.* at 231-32, 363 S.E.2d at 686.⁵ This type of overlap and encroachment in a complex area of government is permissible.

Tall Tower is relevant because, like *Unisys*, it involved a constitutional challenge to the Procurement Code's administrative dispute resolution process. In both decisions, the Court recognized the complex nature of the Procurement Code and its underlying goals that serve important public interests. In *Unisys* the Court expressly found that "no constitutional provision" limited the legislature's power to establish jurisdiction for actions brought by the State. 346 S.C. at 169, 551 S.E.2d at 270. And we must presume the Court meant what it said, and that "no constitutional provision" also meant the separation of powers. *Tall Tower*, of course, in a different context, directly addressed the separation of powers and found no violation.

B. *The Constitutionality of the Federal Contracts Disputes Act*

For persuasive support, cases interpreting the federal contract dispute process are helpful. Under that process, which is similar to South Carolina's, the U.S. government must

⁵ The Procurement Code has since been amended to delete the provisions requiring several legislators to sit on the Panel. S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-4410(2).

resolve its contract disputes by filing a claim pursuant to the Contracts Disputes Act, 41 U.S.C. §§ 7101-09. Like § 11-35-4230, the Act applies to all contract claims made by either the contractor or the federal government arising out of a procurement contract and is the exclusive means of resolving such disputes. *Id.* at §§ 7102-03. “The CDA exclusively governs Government contracts and Government contract disputes.” *Cecile Industries, Inc. v. Cheney*, 995 F.2d 1052, 1055 (Fed. Cir. 1993). The process begins when the U.S. government submits a claim to the contracting officer. Like the CPO in South Carolina, the contracting officer considers the claim and issues a final decision. 41 U.S.C. § 7103. The contractor may then appeal to the Court of Federal Claims or the appropriate Board of Contract Appeals, with right to appeal to the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. *Id.* at § 7104.

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